Lesson 1

Existentials (there is/are), the verb to be,  and the indefinite and definite Articles (a, the)

In Oapan Nahuatl, existence is communicated through two verbs, depending on whether the noun whose existence is being commented is animate or inanimate:

	Animacy
	Singular
	Plural

	Animate
	Adverb of place + nemi
	Adverb of place + nemih

	Inanimate
	(Adverb of place +) o:nkah
	(Adverb of place +) o:nkateh / o:nkatih


Note that both the animate form Adverb of place + nemi and the inanimate form o:nkah (which may or may not be preceded by an adverb of place) can indate either existence (i.e., ‘there is/are’) or the location of a specific animate or inanimate subject (X is here/there/on the bed). The differences will be explained below.

1. Animates
1.a Affirmative expressions
Note that with the noun is general an existential interpretation is possible. As clear from #2 and #4, when a quantifier proceeds the noun the existential verb for animates nemi is not necessary (as in Nika:n miak masa:tl ‘There are a lot of deer here’).
	1
	Ne: tepe:k nemi masa:tl.
	There are deer there in the hills (with no particular reference to the number).

	2
	Ne: tepe:k (nemi) miak masa:tl.
	There are many deer there in the hills.

	3
	Ne: tepe:k nemih masa:meh.
	There are deer there in the hills (with a particular emphasis on the plurality of the deer).

	4
	Ne: tepe:k (nemih) miakeh masa:meh.
	There are many deer there in the hills (with a particular emphasis on the plurality of the deer).

	5
	Nika:n nemi se: tla:katl kwahli tè:tete:mowilia.
	There is a man here who can tell people’s fortunes very well.

	6
	Nika:n nemi se: misto:n.
	There is a cat here.

	7
	Nika:n nemih ko:yo:meh.
	There are coyotes here (with no particular reference to the number).


Note that when a specific noun is being reference a locative interpretation is best:

	8
	Nika:n nemi misto:n yo: o:miste:motsoh
	The cat who scratched you is here.

	9
	Nika:n nemi tla:katl (yo:n) kwahli tè:tete:mowília.
	Here is the man (e.g., I told you about) who can tell people’s fortunes well.

	10
	Nika:n nemi ko:yo:tl yo: o:mitskwalih pio.
	The coyote who ate your chicken is here.

	11
	Nemi mokone:w i:pan tlapextli.
	Your child is on the bed.


Thus when the expression 

· adverb of place + nemi + animate noun can indicate the existence of an unexpressed number of the noun in a given place. There are nouns / There is a noun in the given place (e.g., #1).

· adverb of place + nemi + se: + animate noun indicates the existence of one (i.e., the indefinite article ‘a’) of the noun in a given place. There is a noun in the given place (e.g., #6)

· adverb of place + nemi + specific animate noun indicate the presence of a specific noun in a specific location, indicated by the adverb of place. Most commonly the specificity is expressed through a relative phrase (e.g., the cat that scratched you) or a possessive construction (your cat). At times in the course of a conversation the specificity is clear from context. If the noun is topic (i.e., old information) it is not expressed again after nemi. Thus note the following

· ¿Ka:no:n nemi chichi yo: o:ne:xkwah? (Where is the dog that bit me?) 
· Nika:n nemi (chichi yo: o:mitskwah).
· ¿Ka:no:n nemi chichi (yo:) ista:k? (Where is the white dog?)

· Nika:n nemi (chichi [yo:] ista:k).

· ¿Ka:no:n nemi notskwin?

· Nika:n nemi (motswin).

Never would one respond to the above: Nika:n nemi (se:) chichi. (?The dog is here). Such a response would indicate that there is a dog here, but that the speaker does not know if it is the specific dog already referred to.

· adverb of place + nemi (opcional) + quantifier (miak, miakeh, nochi, nochimeh) +  animate noun
· Nika:n (nemi) miak chichi / Nika:n (nemih) miakeh chichimeh.
· There are a lot of dogs here.

· Nika:n (nemi) nochi tla:katl.
· Here there are only men.

· Nika:n (nemih) nochimeh tla:kameh.

· Here everyone is a man. / Here all are men.

With interrogatives, as with the affirmatives mentioned above, with quantifiers such as miak the phrase may be uttered without nemi although it is more common to include the verb.
· Ka:no:n (nemi) miak masa:meh?

· Where are there a lot of deer?

1.b Questions of location of animates.
Again, as with the above, the lack of specificity of the noun usually indicates an existential question, Where are there ____?
	12
	¿Ka:no:n nemih masa:meh?
	Where are there deer?1

	13a
	¿Xtî:hmatí ka:no:n nemi masa:tl?
	Do you know where there are deer?

	13b
	¿Xtî:hmatí ka:no:n nemih masa:meh?
	Do you know where there are deer?


When the noun is obviously specific, a locative question is indicated.

	14
	¿Ka:no:n nemi mokone:w?
	Where is your child?

	15
	¿Ka:no:n nemi pitso yo:n tine:chnamaki:lti:s?
	Where is the pig that you are going to sell me?


1 To ask about the existence of an animate as in “Where are there ___?” the plural is often, though no obligatorily used (cf. 12 and 13). However, when the question is embedded as a complement, either the singular (13a) is quite common, though again, the plural may be used (15b). Note that in the affirmative either the singular or plural is used apparently (see #1, 2, 3).

*In some circumstances katlih may be used in Oapan to enquire about the location of an animate although apparently this is only used when the noun is specific. Unlike ka:no:n there is a common plural form of katlih, kàtliméh (ka:no:no:meh is also possible, though rare). Note the following forms (i.e., a statement, 16a, followed by three possible continuations).
	16a
	O:ne:chkwah chichi.
	A/The dog bit me.

	16b
	¿Ka:no:n?
	Where (did it bite you, on your body)?

Where (did it bite you, the location, e.g., whose house)?

	16c
	¿Katlih? / ¿Ka:no:n nemi?
	Where is it?

	16d
	¿Kàtliwá?
	Which one?


	17
	¿Kàtlimeh tobu:rrowa:n?
	Where are our donkeys?


It appears that katlih is used when there is a specific noun understood to both speaker and addressee. Thus one might say:

	18
	¿Ka:no:n nemi Juan?
	Where is John?

	19
	¿Katlih Juan?
	Where is John?


However, note the following difference:

	20
	¿Ka:no:n nemih chichimeh?
	Where are there dogs?

	21a
	¿Ka:no:n nemi chichi yo: o:mitskwah?
	Where is the dog that bit you?

	22a
	O:ne:chkwah chichi.

— ¿Katlih? / ¿Ka:no:n nemi?
	A dog bit me.

— Where is he? 


Thus note that one can enter a house and ask: ¿Katlih Juan? which is very similar to ¿Ka:no:n nemi Juan? However, katlih is used when it is known or expected that the subject is close by (e.g., within the household complex in the above case). Note also that katlih is not used with either nemi or (see below) o:nkah.

Katlih Juan?

but not *Katlih nemi Juan? but rather Ka:no:n nemi Juan?

And, with inanimates:


Katlih mokoma:l?

but not *Katlih o:nkah mokoma:l? but rather Ka:no:n o:nkah mokoma:l?

Note the following potential dialogue:
	23
	Nimocha:n pi:pih.

—¡Xmose:wi!

¿Nihno:tsa Juan?

— Xa:k.

¿Ka:no:n nemi?
	Anyone home?

—Come in!

I want to speak to Juan?

— He´s not around (no está).

Where is he?

	24
	Nimocha:n pi:pih.

—¡Xmose:wi!

¿Nihno:tsa Juan?

— Paya:on tekipanotok i:wa:n Jeremías.

The visitor then goes over to Jeremías.

¿Katlih Juan?
	Anyone home?

—Come in!

I want to speak to Juan?

— He´s working right over there.

Where is he?

Where is Juan?


Thus note that in the preceding Ka:no:n nemi is used when there is no clear indication of where the sought after animate is located. Katlih, however, may indicate that the animate is somewhere nearby, i.e., that one expected to encounter the person or animal but he, she, or it is not there.

1.c Negative expressions
Again, the lack of specificity facilitates an existential (there are no) interpretation.
	25
	Xa:k masa:tl nika:n.
	There are no deer here (without any specific reference to number).

	26
	Xa:keh masa:meh.
	There are no deer (specifically commenting on the plurality).


Like with the affirmatives mentioned in the preceding section, with quantifiers such as miak, the phrase may be uttered without nemi.


¿Ka:no:n miakeh masa:meh?


Where are there a lot of deer?

Again, with a specific subject, a locative interpretation occurs:

	27
	Xa:k notah.
	My father is not present.

	28
	Nika:n xa:keh nokone:wa:n.
	My children are not here.

	29
	¡Xa:k chichi, ma:si xwa:hpano!
	The dog is not around, you can come through. 

	30
	¡Xa:keh chichimen, ma:si xwa:hpano!
	There are no dogs here, you can come through.


Note finally that negative location may also be indicated through the negation (through the proclitic x=) of nemi.

	31
	Xnika:n nemi motah.
	Your father is not here.

	32
	Xnika:n nemiya mokone:w.
	Your child was not here.


The difference between Xa:k nika:n / Nika:n xa:k  and Xnika:n nemi is not entirely clear. However, whereas Xa:k may be used without an adverb to indicate the negative of location, nemi requires an adverb for such an interpretation. 

	33
	Xa:k Juan.
	Juan is not around.

	34
	Nika:n xa:k Juan.
	Juan is not (around) here.

	35
	Xnika:n nemi Juan.
	Juan isn’t here.


Finally, one important difference between xa:k and nemi is that whereas nemi is a verb that takes tense/aspect/mood inflection directly, a:k (always used in the negative) uses the copula verb. 

	nika:n ninemi
	I am here
	xna:k
	I am not present

	nika:n tinemi
	You are here
	xta:k
	You are not present

	nika:n nemi
	S/he is here
	xa:k
	S/he is not present

	nika:n tinemih
	We are here
	xta:keh
	We are not present

	nika:n ninemih
	You all are here
	xnima:keh
	You all are not present

	nika:n nemih
	They are here
	xa:keh
	They are not present.


	nika:n ninemis
	I will be here
	xna:k yes
	I am will not be present

	nika:n tinemis
	You will be here
	xta:k yes
	You will not be present

	nika:n nemis
	S/he will be here
	xa:k yes
	S/he will not be present

	nika:n tinemis(k)eh
	We will be here
	xta:keh yes(k)eh
	We will not be present

	nika:n ninemis(k)eh
	You all will be here
	xnima:keh yes(k)eh
	You will not be present

	nika:n nemis(k)eh
	They will be here
	xa:keh yes(k)eh
	They will not be present.


	nika:n ninemiya
	I was here
	xna:k
	I was not present

	nika:n tinemiya
	You were here
	xta:k
	You were not present

	nika:n nemiya
	S/he was here
	xa:k
	S/he was not present

	nika:n tinemiyah
	We were here
	xta:keh
	We were not present

	nika:n ninemiyah
	You all were here
	xnima:keh
	You all were not present

	nika:n nemiyah
	They were here
	xa:keh
	They were not present.


2. Inanimates: 
o:nkah / o:nkatih (present); 

o:nyes / o:nyes(k)eh (future);

o:nkatka / o:nkatkah (past)  

2.a Affirmative expressions
Again, as with the animate expressions, the lack of specific can be interpreted as an existential expression.




	36
	Nika:n o:nkah a:tl
	There is water here.

	37
	Nika:n o:nkah tso:tsokohli.
	There are water jugs here.

	38
	Nika:n o:nkah tlapextli.
	There are beds here (e.g., in a marketplace).

	39
	Nika:n o:nkatih tlapextih.
	There are beds here (emphasizing the plurality or, perhaps, the variety of types).

	40
	Nika:n o:nkatih â:wiltíh
	There are toys here.

	41
	Nika:n o:nkah tomi:n.
	There is money here.


With a specific noun, a locative interpretation is best (for example, cf. #40 with #43).

	41
	Nika:n o:nkah tlapextli yo: i:pan tikochis(k)eh.
	There are beds here that we will sleep on.

	42
	¡Tla: o:nkah tomi:ntsi:n, kine, xmokowili tetsmitl!
	If there is money, then, buy some watercress for yourself!

	43
	Na:nkatih mâ:wilwá:n.
	Your toys are (right) here (e.g., pointing to them).

	30
	Nika:n o:nkah tomi:n.
	There is money here.

	31
	O:nkah tomi:n.
	There is money.

	32
	Nika:n o:nkah motomi:n.
	Your money is here (indicating a place where it is). Note that *O:nkah motomi:n is not acceptable.

	33
	Na:nkah motomi:n.
	Here is your money (handing it over or pointing directly to it).


· Note that with o:nkah the locative nika:n is used, whereas with kah the locative na:n is used. The locative both have the same meaning (in fact, na:n appears to be derived from nika:n).

· The difference between nika:n o:nkah + specific noun and na:nkah + specific noun is subtle, as suggested in #32 and #33. In the former the reference is to the existence of the specific noun in a given location. In the latter there is a closer spatial relationship as occurs when one is handing over the object or pointing to it in close proximity.

· Note that o:nkah cannot be used without an adverb of location when the noun is specific. It can be so used with a nonspecific noun. Thus one has O:nkah tomi:n, indicating the existence of money, but not ?O:nkah motomi:n.

2.b Questions of existential location

	34
	¿Ka:no:n o:nkah a:ko:ntli?
	Where are there large upright water jugs.

	35
	Nimitsmakas tomi:n.

— ¿Katlih?
	I will give you money?

— Where is it?

	36
	Nimitsmakas tomi:n.

— ¿Ka:no:n?
	I will give you money?

— Where? (i.e., where will you give it to me?)

	37
	¿Ka:n(o:n) o:nkah motlapech?
	Where is your bed?


1.c Negative existential location: 
Xtlah or xtlah o:nkah
Xtlah o:nkatih or Xtlàméh.

	38
	Nika:n xtlah a:tl
	There is no water here.

	39
	Nika:n xtlah tso:tsokohli.
	There are no water jugs here.

	40
	Nika:n xtlah tlapextli.
	There are no beds here (e.g., in a marketplace).

	41
	Nika:n xtlàmeh tlapéxtih.
	There are beds no here (emphasizing the plurality or, perhaps, the variety of types).

	42
	Nika:n xtlah tlapextli yo: i:pan tikochis(k)eh.
	There are no beds here that we will sleep on.

	43
	¡Tla: xtlah tomi:ntsi:n, kine, xmoxi:ko!
	If there is no money, then, bear it!

	44
	Nika:n xtlah o:nkatih â:wiltíh
	There are toys here.

	45
	Xna:nkatih mâ:wilwá:n.
	Your toys are not (right) here (e.g., pointing to them).

	46
	Nika:n xtlah tomi:n.
	There is no money here.

	47
	Xtlah tomi:n.
	There is no money.

	48
	Nika:n xtlah notomi:n.
	I don’t have any money here.

	49
	Xtlah notomi:n.
	I don’t have any money. 

	50
	Nika:n xtlah o:nkah motomi:n.
	Your money is not here (indicating a place where it is). 

	51
	O:nitlachiato mocha:n, xtlah motlake:n.
	I went to take a look at your house, your clothes are not there.
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